
TOWN OF AMHERST 
Master Plan Steering Committee 
 
September 22, 2022  DRAFT 
 

Page 1 of 9  Minutes approved:  
 

In attendance: Tracie Adams - Chair, Danielle Pray, Chris Yates, and Will Ludt  1 
Staff in attendance: Nic Strong, Community Development Director; and Kristan Patenaude – 2 
Recording Secretary (remote)  3 
Also in attendance: Steve Whitman, Resilience Planning & Design 4 
 5 

1. Call to Order 6 
Tracie Adams opened the meeting at 6:30pm. She explained that the intention of this meeting is to 7 
review the redlined Master Plan document, in hopes of getting it ready to present and handoff to 8 
the Planning Board. The Planning Board will then handle the public hearing and adoption process.  9 

 10 
2. Discuss Revised Master Plan 11 

Steve Whitman explained that he created a Word document for the Master Plan, in order to track 12 
changes. This will allow the Planning Board to see the redlined document, as requested by Arnie 13 
Rosenblatt. He explained that the first minor changes are on page 7 and include adding a couple 14 
of paragraphs regarding the initial survey that the Town completed in 2020/2021. These survey 15 
results were also peppered throughout the document. The Committee noted that it liked this 16 
inclusion.  17 
 18 
Tracie Adams suggested consistent wording throughout the document when discussing the 19 
“Winter 2020/2021 survey.” 20 

 21 
Regarding the changes on page 9, Tracie Adams noted that the Planning Board made it very clear 22 
that it did not want items defined as “must do” because that implied that they “had to be done,” 23 
but instead asked that the plan include wording about what should be considered or evaluated. This 24 
language seems to have been changed and is consistent through the document now. 25 
 26 
Steve Whitman stated that there is a lot of language throughout the document which has been 27 
changed from “should” to “could” and “will” to “may. ” 28 
 29 
Chris Yates stated that he is not fond of this. He read through the document a couple of times. He 30 
believes the original document had a lot of good goals and “go-do’s” which have been very watered 31 
down. He does not see this language as a governing document to guide the community. This makes 32 
sense in some areas but removed the teeth from the document in some places entirely. 33 
 34 
Tracie Adams stated that Arnie Rosenblatt and Bill Stoughton were strong in saying that they 35 
would not support the Master Plan as originally presented because they wanted something 36 
softened. 37 
 38 
Chris Yates stated that softened is one thing, but removing all direction is another. Those are two 39 
members of a larger group. 40 
 41 
Steve Whitman stated that the language through the document is not so consistent because a strong 42 
message was put forth at that Planning Board meeting. His choice would be to agree with Chris 43 
Yates regarding the language. 44 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Master Plan Steering Committee 
 
September 22, 2022  DRAFT 
 

Page 2 of 9  Minutes approved:  
 

 45 
Chris Yates stated that this is a document that is supposed to guide land use and planning in Town 46 
for the next 10 years. This document now approaches these topics as that they “may” be completed. 47 
If that is the intention, the group might as well stamp a new date on the old Master Plan. 48 
 49 
Danielle Pray noted that the old Master Plan has a number of pie in the sky ideas that needed to be 50 
amended. 51 
 52 
Tracie Adams noted that the Planning Board didn't want to put things in the Master Plan that 53 
required funding because this may or may not be available. That was one concern with saying 54 
that certain items were definitely going to be completed. 55 
 56 
Chris Yates stated that, normally through this process, there would have been additional 57 
community forums and outreach to get some of these items more delineated. The Committee’s 58 
hands were tied based on current conditions. 59 
 60 
Steve Whitman stated that the good news is there is still quite a bit of action the Town can take 61 
using this document. 62 
 63 
Tracie Adams noted that she does not want to eliminate all of the suggestions included from the 64 
consultants regarding items they’ve seen in their experiences and items that other communities are 65 
doing. 66 
 67 
Chris Yates stated that a good example is on page 14. “Connecting existing conservation lands 68 
with these remaining unfragmented blocks and other important natural resource areas may be a 69 
priority for the Town in the future.” One of the things that has been very clear through the survey 70 
and outreach is people stating that this is a priority. Simply because this is listed as a priority in 71 
the Master Plan does not mean the Town will rush out and do it. This simply means the Committee 72 
has identified some areas that should be further examined. He stated that his biggest fear is that 73 
this document will be approved by the Planning Board and sit on a shelf. 74 
 75 
Danielle Pray stated that, in this particular instance, she agrees that the language should be more 76 
definitive. 77 
 78 
Tracie Adams noted that, per the August 23rd meeting minutes, Line 93, Bill Stoughton stated that 79 
he is okay if the Committee wants to recommend a prioritized list of implementation items. Thus, 80 
the Committee could consider adding stronger language on items it feels are the most important. 81 
She noted that Steve Whitman had suggested choosing three topics to prioritize from the survey 82 
results. 83 
 84 
Chris Yates explained that he understands the Board of Selectmen does not want to be pushed to 85 
spend money on all of these items, but the Town needs some sort of basis for zoning, ordinances, 86 
and to guide land planning. 87 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Master Plan Steering Committee 
 
September 22, 2022  DRAFT 
 

Page 3 of 9  Minutes approved:  
 

Tracie Adams stated that she believes it is okay for the Committee to pick its priorities based on 88 
the survey results and information gleaned throughout this process. She agreed that the item 89 
highlighted by Chris Yates on page 14 is a priority. 90 
 91 
Will Ludt asked who the implementer is of the Master Plan. Chris Yates stated that he does not 92 
believe there is one decider. If this document is approved, the intent would be to set up a 93 
subcommittee, either under the Board of Selectmen or the Planning Board, to further examine 94 
some items for trade-offs and to see if they are reasonable for the community. 95 
 96 
Danielle Pray explained that this is a document that the Planning Board is supposed to use to 97 
amend zoning ordinances or create new zoning ordinances. Tracie Adams noted that other 98 
committees around Town hopefully also use it for direction when making decisions. Danielle Pray 99 
explained that one of the tests for variance criteria for the ZBA refers back to the Master Plan 100 
regarding that piece of land. This is a guiding document that should be referred to more often. 101 
 102 
Will Ludt asked if the Integrated Innovative Housing Ordinance (IIHO) came from a previous 103 
Master Plan or from the Planning Board. Chris Yates stated that he believes the Planning Board 104 
took guidance from the State when creating the IIHO. Danielle Pray explained that the IIHO 105 
morphed from a workforce housing/affordable housing item. 106 
 107 
Tracie Adams stated that one of the Committee’s priorities should be listed as conservation and 108 
connection. 109 
 110 
Chris Yates asked if the Plan should also be referenced by Town departments and the school 111 
boards. Nic Strong agreed that, although its basis is land use, the whole of the Town government 112 
should be using the Master Plan as a guiding document. 113 
 114 
Tracie Adams stated that the language on page 14 should be reverted back to, “the important 115 
natural resource areas are a priority for the Town in the future.” 116 
 117 
On page 15, regarding water resources, the Committee agreed to change the language to, “…will 118 
have a role in shaping.” 119 
 120 
Tracie Adams noted that Arnie Rosenblatt stated that he wants the Committee to review this 121 
document through the eyes of someone who could use this document in order to build in Town. 122 
Chris Yates stated that the words do matter. 123 
 124 
Tracie Adams noted that, on page 19, language was added that, “based on the 2021 Master Plan 125 
survey, 83% of respondents agree or strongly agree that Amherst needs to preserve its historical 126 
and cultural resources.” 127 
 128 
Will Ludt stated that page 16 mentioned water resources and how they may affect wildlife or vernal 129 
pools but there is no information regarding how they are impacting humans. Tracie Adams 130 
suggested changing the language in that section to say, “threats to Amherst water resources and 131 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Master Plan Steering Committee 
 
September 22, 2022  DRAFT 
 

Page 4 of 9  Minutes approved:  
 

residents.” The Committee agreed to continue considering how to include this item. The 132 
Committee agreed that it would like to have the acronym PFA/PFOA spelled out in the document.  133 
 134 
Will Ludt asked if preserving the Town’s historic character should be a top priority, as 83% of 135 
respondents strongly agreed with that item. Tracie Adams noted that maintaining the Town’s rural 136 
character is definitely a top priority. Steve Whitman noted that all of the Committee’s top priorities 137 
are in the Vision statement, and the Planning Board did not edit that section. 138 
 139 
In response to a question from Danielle Pray regarding underground utilities, per page 21, Nic  140 
Strong stated that only new subdivisions with roads are required to have underground utilities. The 141 
Committee agreed with the language as presented for this item.  142 
 143 
Regarding the language on page 23, Steve Whitman noted that this section on Heritage and Culture 144 
is not specific to the Historic District; this is Town-wide. 145 
 146 
Chris Yates stated that the last sentence says that “Amherst could pay special attention to 147 
preserving the character of the Village and guiding development on Route 101A and 101E to 148 
ensure it aligns with the existing character.” He stated that these appear to be two separate thoughts. 149 
One to pay special attention to preserving the character of the Village and another to guide 150 
development on Route 101. The group decided to change the “could” back to “should.” 151 
 152 
In response to a question from Chris Yates regarding if the language for diverse and integrated 153 
transportation systems was reviewed with Chris Buchanan of the Bicycle & Pedestrian Advisory 154 
Committee (BPAC), Steve Whitman stated that he tried several times and got no response. He 155 
noted that Chris Buchanan did edit the document the first time, but some of the language was 156 
softened from that time. 157 
 158 
The Committee agreed to use the title of the community survey consistently throughout the 159 
document, either the Amherst 2021 Master Plan Survey or the Winter 2020/2021 Master Plan 160 
Survey. 161 
 162 
Chris Yates stated that, regarding the diverse and integrated transportation system section, the 163 
Town relies on the BPAC to apply for grants to get projects funded. He does not believe the general 164 
community realizes that seed money is needed to get projects shovel ready. Steve Whitman stated 165 
that he believes the intent is still in the document for this. Tracie Adams noted that the Multimodal 166 
Plan is in place and has been approved by the Board of Selectmen. 167 
 168 
Steve Whitman noted that he changed some of the language regarding Complete Streets. In case 169 
that term is not in vogue in the future, he added language, “…or suitable best practices identified 170 
by the Bureau of Federal Highway Administration.” 171 
 172 
Steve Whitman noted that he removed all references to public transit stops in the document, as 173 
requested. 174 
 175 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Master Plan Steering Committee 
 
September 22, 2022  DRAFT 
 

Page 5 of 9  Minutes approved:  
 

On page 28, Tracie Adams noted that data has been included that business owners responded to 176 
the survey, with 68% stating that they would prefer bicycle access over parking for their locations. 177 
 178 
Chris Yates asked about the language regarding that site plan regulations could be completed 179 
with an eye to reducing pavement widths or safety, and to do so with sufficient right of way to 180 
provide facilities for alternative transportation modes. Steve Whitman stated that this mostly 181 
deals with including shared paths or multimodal paths. Chris Yates noted that the Planning 182 
Board has seen a trend for applications to come in proposing narrow roads without multimodal 183 
paths. Steve Whitman stated that he believes that is what the BPAC advocates for Complete 184 
Streets examples, and these can be seen in the Multimodal Plan. 185 
 186 
Steve Whitman noted that the Library is highlighted in the Community Facilities section and in 187 
some of the Historic and Cultural materials, but the Library wanted to be seen as a location for 188 
Recreation and included in that section.  189 
 190 
Will Ludt noted that there was no reference to Peabody Mill Environmental Center (PMEC) in 191 
this section. Steve Whitman stated that PMEC is listed in the Existing Conditions section, on 192 
page 8. 193 
 194 
Regarding the change on page 34, under Municipal Buildings, Facilities, and Services, Chris 195 
Yates stated that he likes the addition regarding facilities management software. 196 
 197 
On page 36, the Committee highlighted the addition of, “62% of business owners agree or 198 
strongly agree that Amherst would benefit from business-friendly regulations, permitting, and 199 
inspections.” 200 
 201 
The Board discussed the proposed removal of some information regarding transition zones. 202 
Tracie Adams noted that Arnie Rosenblatt was not a fan of this item. Steve Whitman explained 203 
that transition areas were a strategy that the Committee discussed. The Planning Board did not 204 
seem to like it, but he believes that the Planning Board left it up for the Committee to decide. 205 
Chris Yates stated that transition zones give the ability for options such as wider areas and 206 
smaller buildings, when approaching the residential zone from the industrial zone. Tracie Adams 207 
agreed that this is sort of a mixed-use strategy. She noted that she believes Arnie Rosenblatt 208 
reviews these items with an eye toward developers trying to potentially abuse them. The 209 
Committee agreed with leaving the revised language as is. Chris Yates noted that residents are 210 
already recommending this type of change in the ordinances. 211 
 212 
On page 48, Chris Yates stated that he was surprised the following sentence was proposed to be 213 
deleted, “There is also an interesting opportunity during this process to create transition zones 214 
between the mixed-use and commercial industrial zones and the largely residential areas in the 215 
community. These transition zones could include a mix of housing alternatives, protecting 216 
natural resources, open spaces, and compatible low traffic commercial uses.” He stated that he 217 
believes this is exactly what Bill Stoughton had previously mentioned wanting, in that these 218 
areas could provide a more gradual transition from higher density mixed-use areas to lower 219 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Master Plan Steering Committee 
 
September 22, 2022  DRAFT 
 

Page 6 of 9  Minutes approved:  
 

density residential areas in the community. Tracie Adams explained that she believes this was 220 
proposed to be deleted because it mentioned a mix of housing alternatives which could be 221 
utilized in a way that the Planning Board did not anticipate. 222 
 223 
On page 49, Steve Whitman stated that he could not find a way to eliminate a certain item and 224 
still be authentic on the Committee’s behalf. There was some discussion regarding removing 225 
recommendations that certain people did not like or did not feel comfortable. However, the 226 
survey did not ask some of these specific questions of the community. Also, the Committee has 227 
advocated for certain items, as informed by the survey, through the community forums and 228 
through conversations with other boards. Ultimately, the Town has to say that it agrees on all of 229 
the recommendations in the Plan. 230 
 231 
Chris Yates noted that the explanations regarding municipal regulations, non-regulatory 232 
municipal investments and initiatives, and volunteers have been removed from the document. He 233 
stated that it strikes him that some people do not understand how the community is laid out and 234 
how it operates. He believes there is educational value in bluntly communicating this to the 235 
public. For example, he believes that some people assume that the Town has more control over 236 
the schools than it truly does. Steve Whitman stated that this could be amended to describe that 237 
there are three primary pathways through which the Master Plan is traditionally implemented. 238 
Danielle Pray stated that she would like to include information regarding the foundation for these 239 
items. Steve Whitman stated that he would work to create a paragraph briefly describing these 240 
three pathways. He noted that the Master Plan is not only for zoning, but it also deals with 241 
infrastructure, programming, and staffing for the Town. 242 
 243 
The group discussed the Recommendations Matrix on page 60. Steve Whitman explained that 244 
the language in this matrix has been softened. 245 
 246 
In response to a question from Chris Yates regarding if the Plan no longer recommends an 247 
Implementation Committee, Tracie Adams noted that the Planning Board did not want this as 248 
part of the Master Plan but wanted to go about it as part of the Board’s business. 249 
 250 
Danielle Pray explained that there was some concern regarding including this item and then 251 
having the Planning Board held to creating the Committee. 252 
 253 
Chris Yates stated that he previously had a lengthy conversation with Dwight Brew, prior Master 254 
Plan Steering Committee Chair, regarding the fact that recommendations made in the last Master 255 
Plan were never implemented. Chris Yates stated that the Town paid money and spent time to 256 
create a useful Master Plan including recommendations from a number of people in Town. He is 257 
concerned that the softened language in the new Master Plan will not lend itself to a useful 258 
product. 259 
 260 
Danielle Pray explained that the language as proposed places the responsibility on the Planning 261 
Board. Thus, there is already a group set to work on this item and it may not be necessary to 262 
recommend creation of an additional group at this time. 263 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Master Plan Steering Committee 
 
September 22, 2022  DRAFT 
 

Page 7 of 9  Minutes approved:  
 

 264 
Will Ludt stated that the prior Planning Board likely had different priorities under the last Master 265 
Plan. 266 
 267 
Danielle Pray noted that citizens will hopefully bring forward their concerns in the future, as they 268 
seem to be now. 269 
 270 
Chris Yates stated that he would prefer an Implementation Committee or someone similar to 271 
track if anything is being done. Danielle Pray stated that that still can be done without being 272 
listed in the Master Plan. 273 
 274 
Steve Whitman stated that the only actions deleted were the first four regarding tracking and 275 
where this document would live and one related to public transit and transportation management. 276 
 277 
Danielle Pray stated that the language, as presented, works for her philosophy. 278 
 279 
The Committee discussed some of the items listed in the Existing Conditions section. Chris 280 
Yates stated that, regarding the proposed policy to monitor technology, he believes the Town 281 
needs to consider updating its stance on residential solar. He noted that the Town currently has a 282 
restriction that a resident can only place enough solar on a house to cover the resident’s usage. 283 
Steve Whitman explained that a shared facility for metering is allowed by NH law. Chris Yates 284 
noted that there is not a mechanism locally to allow this. 285 
 286 
Tracie Adams noted that Jared Hardner could not be at this meeting but submitted comments that 287 
he believes the proposed language looks good. He suggested punting on the outstanding issue of 288 
the land use map. He also proposed a couple of formatting items. He deferred to the Planning 289 
Board as to how to address the survey results and integrate them into the Plan. 290 
 291 
Tracie Adams noted that Rich Hart expressed concerns during the July 26th meeting regarding 292 
global warming, the potential increase in the amount of rain for the 10- and 20-year storms, and 293 
flood areas in Town. Steve Whitman stated that he believes these items are addressed in the Plan. 294 
Tracie Adams noted that there has also been conversation regarding electric charging stations 295 
and solar panels. Steve Whitman explained that there is a section which speaks to the potential 296 
for other resources and incorporating them into the municipal facilities, if possible. 297 
 298 
In response to a question from Tracie Adams regarding the form-based code items, Steve 299 
Whitman stated that this is still included as an option strategy but deemphasized. The box 300 
describing this item has been removed. 301 
 302 
Tracie Adams noted that Jared Hardner previously suggested a bar chart or graph showing some 303 
of the important survey results, or top priorities. Steve Whitman stated that there is one that 304 
shows the top ten included. 305 
 306 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Master Plan Steering Committee 
 
September 22, 2022  DRAFT 
 

Page 8 of 9  Minutes approved:  
 

Will Ludt explained that the group in Town which did a lot of research regarding the previously 307 
proposed warehouse on Bon Terrain Drive mentioned communications and how the Town gets 308 
the word out. Steve Whitman explained that the last recommendation of the Master Plan reads, 309 
“consider broadening the communication strategies used to ensure that all residents and 310 
businesses are regularly informed of municipal initiatives and related news.” 311 
 312 
Chris Yates noted that this group’s concern was about not being notified of the conceptual plan 313 
for the warehouse. Some of these residents may not have been notified even if an application had 314 
gone in because of the distance between the properties. 315 
 316 
Steve Whitman explained that there is one item that Bill Stoughton asked for that was not 317 
completed exactly as proposed in the Population and Housing Profile. The American Community 318 
Survey (ACS) takes a sample of the community to show trends between censuses. Bill Stoughton 319 
requested that the margin of error figure for ACS data be inserted in every single table in this 320 
section. Steve Whitman stated that he believes this to be too much and instead added in a 321 
disclaimer that that five-year American Community Survey does have a margin of error. 322 
 323 
Steve Whitman noted that Tom Gauthier supplied updated school projections which are included 324 
on page 6 of the Population and Housing Profile. Updated language was also inserted in the 325 
Facilities and Utilities section under Future Needs and Projects. The link to the Joint Facilities 326 
Advisory Committee was included.  327 
 328 
Chris Yates stated that he takes offense to the portable classroom statement, as he believes they 329 
are some of the best classrooms at the school. The units have air conditioning. He would have 330 
liked to see more school information included in this document. He expressed this opinion to 331 
some school board members last night at the Planning Board meeting. 332 
 333 

3. Discuss Next Steps 334 
Tracie Adams noted that comments by anyone can be made all the way through the public hearing. 335 
She noted that the Committee has gone page by page over the revisions and she is comfortable 336 
moving this forward to the Planning Board. 337 
 338 
Chris Yates stated that he still has some changes he would like to see made, but he will consider 339 
discussing these with Arnie Rosenblatt. He noted that Arnie Rosenblatt does have a long history 340 
of understanding the legal aspects of these items. 341 
 342 
Tracie Adams noted that the Committee is trying to present this to the Planning Board for its 343 
October 5, 2022, meeting. Once presented, the Planning Board can determine when to schedule 344 
public hearings for. Steve Whitman stated that he would send the revised document to Nic Strong 345 
within the next day or two. He asked if the Committee would like to have him at the Planning 346 
Board meeting to present this item. Tracie Adams noted that the Committee needs to save 347 
Resilience’s contract time to make sure there is availability for the public hearings and creation of 348 
the story map. She noted that Steve Whitman’s presence was critical for answering questions and 349 



TOWN OF AMHERST 
Master Plan Steering Committee 
 
September 22, 2022  DRAFT 
 

Page 9 of 9  Minutes approved:  
 

giving context at the last Planning Board meeting, but she believes the Committee can likely handle 350 
the October 5, 2022, meeting. 351 
 352 
Steve Whitman suggested that the Committee share the draft with the Planning Board prior to the 353 
meeting and if the Board members have any issues he can either speak with them prior or attend 354 
the October 5th meeting. 355 
 356 

4. Approval of Minutes of August 23, 2022 357 
 358 
Will Ludt moved to approve the meeting minutes of July 26, 2022, as presented. 359 
Seconded by Chris Yates. 360 
Voting: 4-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 361 
 362 
Will Ludt moved to approve the meeting minutes of August 23, 2022, as presented. 363 
Seconded by Chris Yates. 364 
Voting: 4-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 365 
 366 
5. Old/New Business 367 

None at this time. 368 
 369 
6. Adjournment 370 

 371 
Will Ludt moved to adjourn the meeting at 8:31pm. Seconded by Chris Yates. 372 
Voting: 4-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 373 
 374 
 375 

 376 
Respectfully submitted, 377 
Kristan Patenaude 378 


